#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

OCT 29 1992

JEFFREY L. STICKNEY, M.D., JAMES N. PAPPAS, M.D., DOUGLAS STRINGHAM, M.D., TOM D. HOWEY, M.D., PAUL T. FORTIN, M.D., MARK FRANKLE, M.D., and WILLIAM F. BENNETT, M.D., CLERK, SUPREME COURT.

By
Chief Deputy Clerk

Petitioners,

Fla. Sup. Ct. Case No.: 80,623

1st DCA Appeal No.: 92-3059

V.

THE BOARD OF REGENTS OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA STATE UNIVERSITY SYSTEM,

Responde	ent.
----------	------

PETITIONERS' JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF

(with Appendix)

SAMUEL R. MANDELBAUM, ESQUIRE Smith & Williams, P.A. 712 South Oregon Avenue Tampa, Florida 33606 (813) 253-5400 Attorneys for Petitioners

####

#### STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

On May 22, 1992 the Honorable George Reynolds, III, Circuit Judge for the Second Judicial Circuit, Leon County, rendered an "Order on Defendants' Motion to Dismiss the Action and Complaint," there dismissing the Petitioners' amended complaint with prejudice [Exhibit 1, infra]. The Respondent's motion was based upon an alleged lack of subject matter jurisdiction.

Thereafter, on June 19, 1992, the Petitioners' counsel mailed a Notice of Appeal seeking review of the above circuit court order to the First District Court of Appeal, along with the appropriate filing fee of \$250 [Exhibit 2, infra]. The Notice of Appeal was stamped by the Clerk of the First DCA as "FILED" three days later on Monday, June 22, 1992 [Exhibit 3, infra]. The style of the notice indicated it was "In the Circuit Court for the Second Judicial Circuit. . . Leon County" [Exhibit 3, infra]. The Notice of Appeal which was "filed" by the First DCA on June 22, 1992 was returned by the First DCA clerk shortly thereafter to Petitioners' counsel, with directions to file in the lower tribunal clerk's office [Exhibit 4, infra]. Copies of this Notice of Appeal were served by U.S. Mail on June 19, 1992 upon Respondent's two attorneys, which included Morris Shelkofsky, Jr., Assistant Attorney General and Debra King, Senior Counsel for the University of South Florida [Exhibit 3, page 2, infra].

On June 25, 1992, after receiving back the previously-filed notice of appeal from the district court clerk, Petitioners' counsel then sent the notice, filing fee and a letter of explanation to the Clerk of the Circuit Court for the Second Circuit [Exhibit 5, *infra*]. This notice, filing fee and letter were apparently never received at that time by the circuit clerk [Exhibit 2, *infra*].

Thereafter, on August 28, 1992, Petitioners' filed a Notice of Refiling the Notice of Appeal in the Circuit Court, noting it had originally been "filed" in the First DCA on June 22, 1992 on a timely basis. [Exhibit 6, *infra*].

Eventually the *refiled* Notice of Appeal, reflecting a filing date of September 2, 1992, was forwarded on to the First DCA on September 8, 1992 [Exhibit 7, *infra*].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In an order entered by the circuit judge on September 8, 1992, the circuit judge made these factual findings of record [Exhibit 2, *infra*].

On September 9, 1992 the First DCA entered an Order to Show Cause for Petitioners' to show why the appeal should not be dismissed for failure to file timely notice of appeal. [Exhibit 8, infra]. After responses were filed by the Petitioners and Respondent, the First DCA entered an order dismissing the appeal for lack of jurisdiction on the grounds that "the notice of appeal was not timely filed in the proper court." [Exhibit 9, infra].

#### **ISSUE PRESENTED:**

"WHETHER A DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL HAS JURISDICTION TO ENTERTAIN AN APPEAL FROM A FINAL JUDGMENT OF A CIRCUIT COURT WHERE, AS HERE, (1) THE APPELLANT ERRONEOUSLY FILES A NOTICE OF APPEAL WITH THE DISTRICT COURT, RATHER THAN THE CIRCUIT COURT, AND (2) THE APPELLANT TAKES NO CORRECTIVE ACTION TO FILE THE NOTICE OF APPEAL IN THE CIRCUIT COURT WITHIN THIRTY DAYS OF THE RENDITION OF THE FINAL JUDGMENT."

Question as pending before this Court in <u>Restrepo v. First Union</u>, 591 So.2d 1157 (Fla. 3rd DCA, 1992), <u>review pending</u>, Supreme Court Case Number 79,406 and <u>Alfonso v. State DER</u>, 588 So.2d 1065 (Fla 3rd DCA, 1991), review pending, Florida Supreme Court Case Number 79,096.

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS**

The Petitioners timely filed their notice of appeal within the 30-day period with the clerk of the appellate court, rather than the lower tribunal. The clerk of the appellate court failed to transfer the notice to the appellate court as required by Rule 9.040(b), but rather improperly mailed the notice back to the office of Petitioners' counsel. Notwithstanding, this Court in its more-recent *Skinner* and *Johnson* decisions has declared that the improper filing of an initial appeal pleading in the wrong court is indeed sufficient to invoke the appellate court's jurisdiction. The appellate court in this case erred in dismissing the appeal on the ground that the notice was improperly filed in the appellate court rather than the lower tribunal, and the dismissal order conflicts with *Skinner*, *Johnson* and other district court decisions.

#### REASONS FOR GRANTING REVIEW

THE FIRST DISTRICT'S DECISION DISMISSING THE APPEAL BELOW FOR FAILING TO FILE THE NOTICE OF APPEAL IN THE "PROPER COURT" EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH OTHER RECENT DECISIONS OF THIS AND OTHER DISTRICT COURTS AND IS A QUESTION OF GREAT PUBLIC INTEREST, SINCE A DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL HAS JURISDICTION TO ENTERTAIN AN APPEAL FROM A FINAL JUDGMENT OF A CIRCUIT COURT WHERE, AS HERE, (1) THE APPELLANT ERRONEOUSLY FILES A NOTICE OF APPEAL WITH THE DISTRICT COURT, RATHER THAN THE CIRCUIT COURT, AND (2) THE APPELLANT IS UNABLE TO TAKE CORRECTIVE ACTION TO FILE THE NOTICE OF APPEAL IN THE CIRCUIT COURT WITHIN THIRTY DAYS OF THE RENDITION OF THE FINAL JUDGMENT.

Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.110(b) provides that jurisdiction of the appellate court "shall be invoked by filing 2 copies of a notice, accompanied by filing fees prescribed by law, with the clerk of the lower tribunal within 30 days of rendition of the order to be reviewed." Moreover, Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.040(b) provides with regard to filing in an improper forum:

"If a proceeding is commenced in an *inappropriate court*, that court shall transfer the cause to an appropriate court." (Italics added.)

Since the circuit court order sought for review was rendered on May 22, 1992, a notice of appeal must have necessarily been filed within 30 days of rendition, i.e. Monday, June 22, 1992. As the 30th day fell on Sunday, June 21, 1992, the 30-day period would have been tolled until Monday, June 22, 1992. See *Rubenstein v. Richard*, 346 So.2d 89, 90 (Fla. 3rd DCA, 1977) (where 30th day to file notice of appeal fell on Sunday, last day for filing notice was extended to next business day that courthouse was open). Thus, a notice could be timely filed through June 22, 1992.

In this case the Petitioners inadvertently filed their notice of appeal, although on a timely basis, within the prescribed 30-day period with the Clerk of the First District Court of Appeal. Apparently on or about the last day of the 30-day period the district court clerk returned the notice to the Petitioners' counsel in Tampa with directions for filing in the circuit court clerk's office (i.e.

the lower tribunal).<sup>2</sup> The notice was eventually refiled in the circuit court clerk's office, but well beyond the 30-day period. [Exhibit 7, *infra*].

Notwithstanding Petitioners' inadvertent filing of the notice of appeal in the district court, said filing within the 30-day period was indeed sufficient to invoke the district court's appellate jurisdiction, even though the Petitioners' should have filed the notice in the circuit court. See Skinner v. Skinner, 561 So.2d 260, 262 (Fla., 1990); Johnson v. Citizens State, 537 So. 2d 96 (Fla., 1989). In any event Rule 9.040(b) mandates that a timely but improperly filed notice in the district court must be transferred to the circuit court clerk, which was never done by the district court clerk in this case as required.

In Skinner, 561 So.2d at 262, this Court held that where an initial appeal pleading attempting to invoke the appellate jurisdiction of the district court is improperly filed with the district court rather than correctly with the circuit court clerk, such improper filing with the district court is sufficient to invoke the district court's appellate jurisdiction. As noted by this Court in Skinner, 561 So.2d at 262:

"It was the mistaken view of petitioner that the post-judgment order [of the circuit court] was, by its nature and content final, and therefore an appropriate matter for review by certiorari [in the district court]. As a result, petitioner filed with the district court a petition for certiorari instead of a notice of appeal with the circuit court. There is no question that an appellate court has jurisdiction to review a cause even though the form of appellate relief is mischaracterized. *Johnson*, 537 So.2d at 97. As a result, we believe that petitioner's timely filed application for certiorari in the district court was sufficient to invoke that court's appellate jurisdiction.

In Johnson, this court held that the filing of a notice of appeal in the circuit court was sufficient to confer jurisdiction on that appellate court in order to consider the appropriate remedy. We find no distinguishable difference between the scenario in allowing a petition for certiorari filed in the district court to confer jurisdiction on that appellate court in order to consider the appropriate remedy. We believe that once the district court's jurisdiction has been invoked, it cannot be divested of jurisdiction by a hindsight determination that the wrong remedy was sought by a notice or petition filed in the wrong place."

And in *Johnson*, 537 So. 2d at 98, this Court held that a notice of appeal improperly filed within the 30-day period in the lower tribunal (i.e. circuit court) was nonetheless sufficient to

When filing the notice in the district court on the last day of the 30-day period, the district court clerk apparently did not "transfer" the notice to the nearby circuit court clerk in Tallahassee as required by Rule 9.040(b).

invoke the district court's appellate jurisdiction to consider a petition for certiorari, even though the petition was itself not timely and properly filed in the district court within the 30-day period.

See also: Sanchez v. Swanson, 481 So. 2d 481 (Fla., 1986) [where notice of appeal of county court order to circuit court was stamped as filed in circuit court (in its appellate capacity), improper filing of notice of appeal with circuit court clerk was sufficient to invoke circuit court's appellate jurisdiction]; Hines v. Lykes, 374 So. 2d 1132, 1133 (Fla. 2 DCA 1979) [where notice of administrative appeal was timely filed with district court clerk, but not timely filed with lower tribunal (i.e. administrative agency), timely filing in district court sufficient to invoke district court's appellate jurisdiction].

Moreover, the notice of appeal filed by Petitioners [Exhibit 3 infra] clearly notes at the top of the page that it is filed "In the Circuit Court for the Second Judicial Circuit" in Tallahassee, although it was inadvertently mailed to and/or received by the District Court Clerk, nearby in Tallahassee. The fact that the notice specifically designated the *lower tribunal* in its caption, is further indication of a jurisdictionally-sufficient notice. See Sanchez, 481 So. 2d at 482, Note 1.

Petitioners are mindful of the 14 year-old decision of this Court in Lampkin-Asan v. Third DCA, 364 So. 2d 469 (Fla., 1978), written during the time period of transition in this state from the Florida Appellate Rules to the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure. This Court in Lampkin held that a notice of appeal inadvertently filed within the 30 day period in the district court of appeal, rather than in the circuit court, is jurisdictionally flawed and subject to dismissal.

However, it is evident from the 1989 Johnson and 1990 Skinner decisions that this Court has receded from its 1978 holding of Lampkin. See Alfonso v. State DER, 588 So. 2d 1065, 1066 (Fla., 3 DCA, 1991) ("we agree that the continuing validity of Lampkin-Asan's narrow holding may be open to question in view of the Johnson and Skinner cases.") And in Johnson, 537 So. 2d at 98, this Court expressly held, "we recede from Lampkin-Asan..."

Significantly the Third District has certified the question to this Court of whether the erroneous filing of a Notice of Appeal with the District Court rather than the Circuit Court is jurisdictionally deficient. See *Restrepo v. First Union*, 591 So. 2d 1157 (Fla. 3 DCA, 1992),

review pending, Florida Supreme Court Case Number 79,406; See also Alfonso, 588 So. 2d at 1066, review pending, Florida Supreme Court Case Number 79,096. Oral argument is scheduled in this Court in these cases for November 6, 1992. The question as certified by the Third DCA to this Court is as follows:

"WHETHER A DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL HAS JURISDICTION TO ENTERTAIN AN APPEAL FROM A FINAL JUDGMENT OF A CIRCUIT COURT WHERE, AS HERE, (1) THE APPELLANT ERRONEOUSLY FILES A NOTICE OF APPEAL WITH THE DISTRICT COURT, RATHER THAN THE CIRCUIT COURT, AND (2) THE APPELLANT TAKES NO CORRECTIVE ACTION TO FILE THE NOTICE OF APPEAL IN THE CIRCUIT COURT WITHIN THIRTY DAYS OF THE RENDITION OF THE FINAL JUDGMENT."

It is apparent that this Court in *Skinner* and *Johnson* have retracted from its 1978 *Lampkin* decision, rendered during a transitional period. Accordingly, the First District's order dismissing the subject appeal expressly and directly conflicts with these opinions and those of other districts as cited above, and presents a question of great public interest.

#### **CONCLUSION**

Even though the notice was timely filed in the wrong court, such filing with the Clerk of the First District was sufficient to invoke the First District's appellate jurisdiction. See: Skinner; Johnson; Sanchez; Hines. Based upon the foregoing arguments and authorities, the Petitioners respectfully request this Court to grant review of this cause and quash the order of the First District dismissing the appeal.

SMITH & WILLIAMS, P.A. 712 S. Oregon Avenue Tampa, Florida 33606-2569 813-253-5400 Attorneys for Petitioners

Samuel R. Mandelbaum, Esquire Florida Bar Number: 270806