IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

JEFFREY L. STICKNEY, M.D., JAMES N. PAPPAS, M.D., DOUGLAS STRINGHAM, M.D., TOM D. HOWEY, M.D., PAUL T. FORTIN, M.D., MARK FRANKLE, M.D., and WILLIAM F. BENNETT, M.D.,

Petitioners,

Fla. Sup. Ct. Case No. 80,623

1st DCA Appeal No. 92-3059

J+ 5 -

SID J. WHITE

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By Chief Deputy Clerk

v.

THE BOARD OF REGENTS OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA STATE UNIVERSITY SYSTEM,

Respondent.

ON REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA FIRST DISTRICT

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

MORRIS E. SHELKOFSKY, JR. ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 165186

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent disagrees with Petitioner's statement of the case and facts to the extent it recites alleged facts concerning the basis for the trial court's dismissal which are not relevant since they are not contained within the four corners of the decision alleged to be in conflict. <u>Reaves v. State</u>, 485 So.2d 829, 830 n. 3 (Fla. 1986). It is inappropriate for a party to attempt to bring additional facts, mixed with argument, to this Court's attention for the purpose of determining jurisdiction, and Respondent would ask that Petitioner's statement of the case and facts be stricken to this limited extent.

Respondent also points out that no notice of appeal was filed in the Leon Circuit Court until September 8, 1992, a full 79 days after rendition of the Circuit Court's order. Moreover, a more pristine example of a final order than Exhibit 1 from Petitioner's Appendix would be difficult to posit. As a result, there can be no issue of confusion of remedy.

- 1 -

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The instant case does not expressly and directly conflict with the cited decisions of the Florida Supreme Court in Johnson v. Citizens State Bank, 537 So.2d 96 (Fla. 1989) and <u>Skinner v. Skinner</u>, 561 So.2d 260 (Fla. 1990)<sup>1'2</sup> or the Third District Court of Appeal in <u>Alfonso</u> v. State Department of environmental Regulation, 588 So.2d 1065 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991) and <u>Restrepo v. First Union</u> <u>National Bank</u>, 591 So.2d 1157 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992).<sup>3</sup> As to the Florida Supreme Court cases cited, the opinion of the First District Court of Appeal below is fully reconcilable with Johnson and <u>Skinner</u>. <u>Beeks v. State</u>, 569 So.2d 1345, 1347 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990). As to the two cited Third District Court of Appeal decisions, both <u>Alfonso</u> and <u>Restrepo</u> were dismissed as required by what was seen as

<sup>1</sup>Petitioner has referred to <u>Sanchez v. Swanson</u>, 481 So.2d 481 (Fla. 1986) and <u>Hines v. Lykes</u>, 374 So.2d 1132 (Fla. 2d DCA 1979) after the legal citation signal <u>see also</u>. Petitioner's Jurisdictional Brief at 6. Respondent herein treats reference to <u>Sanchez</u> and <u>Hines</u> as mere legal citation to addition source material supporting the proposition, not an assertion that the opinion below conflicts with the decisions in those cases.

<sup>2</sup><u>Sanchez</u> is clearly inapposite to the issues of the instant case because the Florida Supreme Court found that stamping of the notice of appeal as received by the Circuit Court was not at issue in the case. <u>Sanchez v. Swanson</u>, 481 So. 2d 481, 482 n. 1 (1986).

<sup>3</sup><u>Hines</u> is clearly inapposite to the issues of this case because it dealt with the administrative action exception of Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.110(c). <u>Hines v.</u> Lykes, 374 So.2d 1132, 1132 n. 1 (Fla. 2d DCA 1979). controlling precedent in <u>Lampkin-Asam v. Third DCA</u>, 364 So.2d 469 (Fla. 1970). <u>Alfonso v. State Department of</u> <u>Environmental Regulations</u>, 588 So.2d 1065, 1066 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991). <u>See Restrepo v. First Union National Bank</u>, 591 So.2d 1157 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992.

Petitioner has failed to state a basis for discretionary review jurisdiction in the Florida Supreme Court based on a certified question of great public importance. Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(v). This conclusion results from the absence of certification of the opinion below by the First District Court of Appeal.

Finally, the Florida Supreme Court lacks discretionary review jurisdiction because the opinion below should be treated as a citation per curiam affirmed opinion. The absence of a discussion of legal principles in the opinion below prevents conflict jurisdiction from arising.

- 3 -

#### ARGUMENT

I.

## THE OPINION BELOW DOES NOT EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICT WITH A DECISION OF THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT OR ANOTHER DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL.

This Honorable Court lacks discretionary review jurisdiction as alleged by Petitioners. Petitioner has alleged that there is discretionary review jurisdiction in this Honorable Court based upon an alleged conflict between the opinion below and a decision of the Florida Supreme Court. Petitioners' Jurisdictional Brief at 6. Petitioners allege that this Honorable Court has receded from the decision in Lampkin-Asam in a manner material to the assertions in the instant case in Johnson v. Citizens State Bank, 537 So.2d 96 (Fla. 1989). However, the alleged receding from Lampkin-Asam is not material to the facts of this case. Johnson, 537 So.2d at 98. It is clear that in the Johnson opinion the decision of the Florida Supreme Court did not reach the certified question attributed to That conclusion is clear because in Restrepo and Alfonso. Johnson, this Honorable Court relied upon the ability of a Petition for Writ of Certiorari filed with the clerk of a District Court of Appeal to invoke the jurisdiction of such District Court to consider an appropriate remedy, to quash Johnson, 561 So.2d at 98. the dismissal below. It is clear that "[i]n both Johnson and Skinner, the document

- 4 -

which Appellant/Petitioner did file - even though it was incorrect as to remedy - was sufficient to invoke the appellate court's jurisdiction." <u>Beeks v. State</u>, 569 So.2d 1345, 1347 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990).

In the instant case Appellant filed a Notice of Appeal, the correct document, in the District Court, the wrong court. Such document is not sufficient to invoke the jurisdiction of a District Court. The distinction between having properly invoked the jurisdiction of a District Court of Appeal which may then consider a proper remedy as opposed to the instant case in which the jurisdiction of the District Court of Appeal was never invoked is vast. Beeks v. State, 569 So.2d at 1347.

A clear constitutional and Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure requirement for discretionary review jurisdiction is that a decision of a District Court of Appeal expressly and directly conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court (or another District Court of Appeal) on the same question of law. Art. V, §3(b)(3), Fla. Const.; Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv). The conflict is one which must be ascertainable within the four corners of a majority opinion of the Florida Supreme Court. <u>Reaves v.</u> <u>State</u>, 485 So.2d 829 (Fla. 1986). It must involve so clear a collision with a prior decision on the same point of law as to create inconsistency or a conflict in precedent. <u>Kincaid v. World Insurance Company</u>, 157 So.2d 517 (Fla.

- 5 -

1963). A conflict so great that the decision in the instant appeal would have the effect of overruling the Johnson and Skinner decisions is required. Kyle v. Kyle, 139 So.2d 885 (Fla. 1962). Where the issues in the instant appeal and that of Johnson and Skinner are distinguishable from that cited to be in conflict, there is no conflict jurisdiction under Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv). Department of Revenue v. Johnston, 442 So.2d 950, 951-952 (Fla. 1983). In view of the clear reconcilability of Johnson and Skinner on the one hand and the instant appeal on the other, well enunciated by the First District Court of Appeal in Beeks v. State, the Motion to Consolidate should be denied for lack of discretionary review jurisdiction because the opinion below does not expressly and directly conflict with the decisions in the Johnson and Skinner cases of this Honorable Court.

Petitioner next asserts that the instant decision below expressly and directly conflicts with the decision of another District Court of Appeal. Petitioners' Jurisdictional Brief at 7. A close reading of the two opinions of the Third District Court of Appeal in <u>Restrepo</u> <u>v. First Union National Bank</u>, 591 So.2d 1157 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992) and <u>Alfonso v. State Department of Environmental</u> <u>Regulation</u>, 588 So.2d 1065 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991) does not support this assertion. In both of those cases the appeals were dismissed as required by what was seen by the Third

- 6 -

District Court of Appeal as controlling precedent in Lampkin-Asam. Alfonso v. State Department of Environmental Regulation, 588 So.2d 1065, 1066 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991). See Restrepo v. First Union National Bank, 591 So.2d 1157 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992). In Alfonso, the Third District Court of Appeal clearly stated that "[t]he narrow holding of Lampkin-Asam, however, has never been overruled and requires that we dismiss the instant appeal." Alfonso, 588 So.2d at 1066. See Restrepo, 591 So.2d at 1157. Clearly the Third District Court of Appeal was following proper procedure by ruling in accordance with binding precedent and then certifying a question. Continental Insurance Company v. Carroll, 485 So.2d 406, 409 (Fla. 1986). In no way may the opinion below in the instant case be said to be in conflict with two cited decisions of the Third District Court of Appeals which clearly followed what the Third District Court of Appeal saw as binding precedent in Lampkin-Asam.

#### II.

#### THE OPINION BELOW DOES NOT PASS UPON A QUESTION CERTIFIED TO BE OF GREAT PUBLIC IMPORTANCE.

Petitioners have not articulated a basis for discretionary review jurisdiction in this Honorable Court based on a certified question of great public importance. Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(v). To their credit, Petitioners do not assert that the question certified in

- 7 -

Restrepo and Alfonso has in fact been certified by the First District Court of Appeal of Florida in the opinion Petitioners' Jurisdictional Brief at 4 and 7. below. Indeed the required certification was never sought or obtained in the instant case. Susco Car Rental System of Florida v. Leonard, 112 So.2d 832, 834 (Fla. 1959); Fla. R. App. P. 9.330(a). See Hittel v. Rosenhagen, 492 So.2d 1086, 1088 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986). Moreover, since the prerequisite of certification by the District Court of Appeal has not taken place, the requirement that the party adversely affected by the District Court's decision seek review after such certification cannot be met. See Petrik v. New Hampshire Insurance Company, 400 So.2d 8, 9-10 (Fla. In the absence of certification, there is no 1981). discretionary review jurisdiction based upon a certified question of great public importance.

#### III.

#### THE OPINION BELOW IS A CITATION PER CURIAM AFFIRMED OPINION NOT REVIEWABLE BY THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT.

Finally, this Honorable Court lacks discretionary review jurisdiction because the opinion below should be treated as a citation per curiam affirmed opinion (hereinafter "citation pca"). The text of the order appealed is set forth herein below:

The Court has considered the Appellant's Response to the show cause order. As the notice of appeal was not timely filed in the

- 8 -

proper court, this appeal is dismissed for lack of jurisdiction. <u>Beeks v. State</u>, 569 So.2d 1345 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990).

It is clear that conflict jurisdiction must be based upon a direct conflict expressly appearing in a written opinion. Pena v. Tampa Federal Savings and Loan Association, 385 So.2d 1370 (Fla. 1980). In the last quoted material it is clear that sentences one and two in the order do not provide a discussion of legal principles which the District Court of Appeal applied. In order to have conflict jurisdiction, there must be a discussion of the legal principles which the District Court of Appeal applied which are alleged to be in conflict with a decision of another District Court of Appeal or the Supreme Court. Ford Motor Company v. Kikis, 401 So.2d 1341, 1342 (Fla. 1981). Based on the absence of such discussion of legal principles, the decision should be treated as a citation pca not reviewable in this Honorable Court because it fails to set forth a direct conflict expressly appearing in the written order. Dodi Publishing Company v. Editorial America, S.A., 385 So.2d 1369 (Fla. 1980) and Pena, 385 So.2d at 1370.

- 9 -

#### CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, this Honorable Court does not have jurisdiction over the instant case, and the petition for discretionary review should be denied.